2003

Keene v. Bonser : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal by virtue of the pour over order of the Utah Supreme Court and may have had jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(h).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Appellant asserts the following issues on appeal:

- a. Issue: Whether the trial court's findings of fact were sufficient to support the legal conclusion that Appellant "resided in the same residence" as Appellee, and, thus, a "cohabitant" under the Cohabitant Abuse Act.
Determinative law: Utah Code Ann. §§ 30-6-1 *et seq.* (Cohabitant Abuse Act); Utah R. Civ. P. 52.
Standard of review: Whether the trial court's findings of fact are sufficient to support its decision is reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard:
"[T]he court must set forth the reasons for its decision in enough detail for the reviewing court to determine whether they are clearly erroneous."
Lysenko v. Sawaya, 1999 UT App 31 ¶ 9, 973 P2d 445, 448 (*aff'd* 2000 UT 56).
- b. Issue: Whether there was sufficient evidence to support factual findings to support a conclusion that Appellant resided in the same residence as Appellee and was, therefore, a cohabitant under the Cohabitant Abuse Act.

Determinative law: Utah Code Ann. § 30-6-1 et seq. (Cohabitant Abuse Act); Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a);

Standard of review: Whether the findings of fact are supported by the evidence is reviewed under the clear error standard. Findings will be upheld unless the finding is against the clear weight of the evidence, or the appellate court reaches “a firm conviction that a mistake has been made.”

ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Mattson, 943 P.2d 247, 255 (Utah App.1997). The party asserting the lack of evidentiary support must marshal the evidence supporting the finding and demonstrate that it is insufficient. *Id*; *Pasker, Gould, Ames & Weaver, Inc. v. Morse*, 887 P.2d 872 (Utah App. 1994).

- c. Issue: Whether, under the Cohabitant Abuse Act, the trial court was correct in its legal conclusion that Appellant “resided in the same residence” as Appellee.

Determinative law: Utah Code Ann. §§ 30-6-1 et seq.

Standard of Review: Whether the trial court correctly interpreted the statutory language in reaching its legal conclusion is a question of law, which is reviewed on appeal for correctness. *Cox v. Krammer*, 2003 UT App 264, 76 P.3d 184.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. § 30-6-1 (Supp. 2003)

As used in this chapter:

- (1) "Abuse" means intentionally or knowingly causing or attempting to cause a cohabitant physical harm or intentionally or knowingly placing a cohabitant in reasonable fear of imminent physical harm.
- (2) "Cohabitant" means an emancipated person pursuant to Section 15-2-1 or a person who is 16 years of age or older who:
 - (a) is or was a spouse of the other party;
 - (b) is or was living as if a spouse of the other party;
 - (c) is related by blood or marriage to the other party;
 - (d) has one or more children in common with the other party;
 - (e) is the biological parent of the other party's unborn child; or
 - (f) resides or has resided in the same residence as the other party.

(Remainder of text is set forth in Appendix "A.")

Utah Code Ann. § 30-6-2 (Supp. 2003)

- (1) Any cohabitant who has been subjected to abuse or domestic violence, or to whom there is a substantial likelihood of abuse or domestic violence, may seek an ex parte protective order or a protective order in accordance with this chapter, whether or not that person has left the residence or the premises in an effort to avoid further abuse.
- (2) A petition for a protective order may be filed under this chapter regardless of whether an action for divorce between the parties is pending.
- (3) A petition seeking a protective order may not be withdrawn without approval of the court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case.

This is an appeal from the issuance of a protective order by the Eighth Judicial District Court in and for Daggett County, Manila Department, State of Utah. The trial court was asked to decide, *inter alia*, whether Appellant, who is a resident of Mountain View, Wyoming, resided in the same residence as Appellee, who resided in Manila, Utah.

Course of proceedings

On June 4, 2003, the Eighth Judicial District Court in and for Daggett County, Manila Department, State of Utah, issued an *ex parte* Protective Order. The order directed that it be served in Mountain View, Wyoming. By arrangement with counsel, the Respondent came to Utah and presented himself to the Daggett County Sheriff's office and was served. An evidentiary hearing was held on September 5, 2003.

Disposition at trial

Following the evidentiary hearing, the trial court announced its ruling from the bench, finding that Appellant and Appellee resided in the same residence in Manila, Utah. The trial court found that "domestic violence or abuse" had occurred and issued a Protective Order under Utah's Cohabitant Abuse Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 30-6-1 *et seq.* (sometimes referred to as the "Act").

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

1. The parties to this case are: (1) Appellant, Ashely J. Bonser, who was Respondent

below and is hereafter referred to as “Bonser” and (2) Appellee, Andrea N. Keene, who was Petitioner below and is hereafter referred to as “Keene.” Record on Appeal p. 1 (hereafter “R.O.A.”)

2. Appellee Keene is a resident of Manilla, Utah. (R.O.A. p. 6.)
3. On June 4, 2003, Keene swore out a petition for a protective order under the Act, alleging that Keene and Bonser “have resided in the same residence.” (R. O. A. 6-13.)
4. Keene’s petition alleged incidents of domestic violence happened on May 31, 2003 in Manilla, Utah. (R. O. A. 7-8.)
5. Keene’s petition on its face alleged that Appellant Bonser should be served with the *ex parte* protective order in Mountain View Wyoming. (R.O.A. 13.) The *Ex Parte* Protective Order commands that it be served in Mountain View, Wyoming. (R.O.A. 18 .)
6. On September 5, 2003, the Honorable John R. Anderson held a Protective Order hearing at which the following facts were adduced.
 - a. Bonser was born and raised in Mountain View, Wyoming. (Transcript p. 42, ll. 9 - 24, p. 51, l. 25)
 - b. Prior to the events alleged, Bonser worked for a Wyoming Health and Safety, later called BSI, out of Mountain View, Wyoming. (Transcript p. 6, ll. 1-9, p. 54, ll. 3-7)

- c. Bonser received his mail in Mountain View, Wyoming. (Transcript p. 57, l. 25, p. 58, ll. 1-2)
- d. Bonser expressly disavowed any intention to reside at Andrea Keene's residence. (Transcript p. 57, ll. 1-17) .
- e. Bonser kept his property in Mountain View, Wyoming. (Transcript p. 58 ll. 1 - 10)
- f. Respondent and five witnesses testified that Bonser had been a resident of Mountain View Wyoming since birth and had never resided in Manilla, Utah. (Transcript p.42, l.7; p.43, l.9; p.47, l.17; p.48, l. 5; p.49. ll.4-11; p.50, ll. 4 -22; & p.51, l.23 - p.58, l.10.)
- g. Bonser is an avid fisherman and frequently goes fishing on Flaming Gorge Reservoir while "putting in" out of Manilla, Utah. (Transcript p. 48. ll. 7-13)
- h. Bonser met Keene who was working as a waitress at a restaurant in Manilla, Utah and they became intimately involved from March 2003 through May 2003. (Transcript p. 3. ll. 5-25; p. 4 ll. 1 - 17)
- i. Bonser would spend the night at Keene's trailer most of the nights when he had gone fishing on Flaming Gorge, but only when Keene was also present. (Transcript p. 72, ll. 9-14)
- j. Keene testified that Bonser was a frequent overnight visitor in her residence

located at #10 Scott's trailer Park, Manilla, Utah during the months of March, April and May 2003. (Transcript p. 3-4)

- k. Keene also testified that Bonser left his boat and fishing clothes stored at her home during those months (Transcript p. 4, l. 23-24, p. 5, l. 3) and that he gave her a clothes dryer, a TV, a DVD player and a vacuum cleaner which she has retained. (Transcript p. 5, l. 10-12)
 - l. Keene admitted that Bonser did not receive his mail at her residence (Transcript p. 28, ll. 10-11), that he worked for BSI services, Mountain View, Wyoming (Transcript p. 6, l. 3; R.O.A. 92), that he received no bills at her home (Transcript p. 28, l. 19-21) and that he only gave her \$90.00 for food as a "one time deal" (Transcript p. 30, ll. 4-5.)
7. Following the close of evidence and the argument of counsel Judge Anderson made his ruling which is reproduced in its entirety in Appendix "B".

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Bonser, who is a legal resident of the state of Wyoming, had an intimate relation with Keene from late March 2003 through May 31, 2003. Keene is a legal resident of Utah, residing in Manila, Utah. Although they disputed the frequency of such visits, Bonser sometimes stayed overnight at Keene's house. Under the Cohabitant Abuse Act, a Protective Order can be issued only against a cohabitant as defined in that act. In this case, Bonser was a cohabitant only if he resided in the same residence with Keene. If

Bonser was not a resident there, the Cohabitant Abuse Act did not apply and Keene's remedy was for equitable relief through restraining order or other remedy. A common residence, however, may not be in two different states, or it is simply not the "same residence." The trial court, however, found that Keene had her residence in Manilla, Utah. Then it interpreted the statute to allow Bonser to choose to not make Utah his residence, yet still reside with Keene, who did reside in Utah.

The trial court, however, failed to make appropriate factual findings to support its legal conclusion that Bonser had a common residence with Keene. Utah R. Civ. P. 52 requires specific findings of fact. The trial court's decision never stated the findings necessary under Rule 52. While under limited circumstances appellate courts may imply findings of fact, this requires that there are not a matrix of alternative factual findings available and clear evidence that the trial court actually considered and necessarily made the necessary findings. That is not this case. There were disputed facts, and several possible factual determinations. Consequently, findings cannot be implied, and the findings needed to support the conclusion that Bonser was a resident in Manila, Utah are lacking.

Moreover, the evidence was insufficient to support those necessary findings of fact. Utah case law sets forth a variety of factors to determine residency and in a variety of contexts. After marshaling all the evidence in support to findings the court should have made, virtually none of it evidences the facts necessary to conclude Bonser resided

in the same residence with Keene in Manilla, Utah. That is perhaps why the trial court's findings of fact were sparse or nonexistent.

Finally, the trial court erred when it concluded that Bonser had a residence in Manila, Utah, which he shared with Keene. That legal conclusion was based on the trial court's incorrect determination that the statutory definition of residence had to be "broad" to "cover folks who are entitled to protective orders." Because that was its stated basis, the trial court's logic was circular and result-oriented. The conclusion was further flawed because the statute is not broad, but specific, and the trial court ignored or misinterpreted Utah law delineating what is required to show residency.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Failed to Make the Necessary Factual Findings to Support its Legal Conclusion That Bonser Resided in the Same Residence as Keener (and was, Therefore a Cohabitant Under the Act).

The Actual Findings are Inadequate.

The law in Utah has long been that "[i]t is necessary that the conclusions of law find support in, and arise out of, the findings of fact." *Needham v. First Nat. Bank*, 85 P.2d 785 at 787, 96 Utah 432 (Utah 1938){citations omitted}; Utah R. Civ. P. 52. On the issue of whether Bonser resided in the same residence with Keene and was therefore was a cohabitant under the Act, the trial court announced its ruling without specific findings of fact whatsoever. It ruled as follows:

The issue of jurisdiction that Mr. McIntyre has raised deals with - I think the Court would interpret that as a broad definition to cover folks who are

entitled to protective orders that have resided or are residing in the same residence. I interpret that as meaning not that Mr. Bonser chose to make Utah his residence. For the purposes of a statute in the definition, I'm going to find that we have jurisdiction. Mr. Bonser and Ms. Keene were residing or had resided in the same residence, residence being her house trailer with a bedroom and a bed. That's pretty clear I think under the statute.

(Transcript pp. 90 - 91.)

The trial court also made an oblique reference to Keene's lack of credibility, stating "[i]f we had believed her testimony, I probably wouldn't have done that . . ." *Id.* p. 92. This apparently refers to the court's decision regarding firearms, but the record is not clear whether it reflect the court's opinion on her credibility in other areas. The trial court made no other findings and gave no clear indication of what might have been in the "mind of the court" when it concluded residency existed. *See id.* p.p. 90 -92.

That ruling is simply inadequate for its purposes.

Rule 52(a) requires that a trial court find facts specially in all actions tried upon the facts without a jury. Such findings of fact must clearly indicate the "mind of the court," and must resolve all issues of material fact necessary to justify the conclusions of law and judgment entered thereon. Furthermore, failure of a trial court to enter adequate findings requires the judgment to be vacated.

Parks v. Zions First Nat. Bank, 673 P.2d 590 at 601 (Utah 1983). Here, however, the trial court did not address the issues of material fact on the residency issue. Its findings of fact are simply insufficient to support its conclusion that the parties resided together in the same residences.

Although, as noted below, Bonser believes the evidence Keene presented did not

address the necessary indicia of residence, the trial court made no findings on the indicia Keene did raise. For instance, although there was evidence on some matters, the trial court did not make any finding that Bonser ever regularly stayed overnight with Keene, nor did the trial court make a finding that Bonser left any of his clothing or other possessions at Keene's residence when he was not there. Nor did it indicate any tie between those facts and his residency status.

On other indicia, the trial court did not find that Bonser received any mail at Keene's residence, worked out of there, voted there, had family there or otherwise had any objective indicia of residence. It did however, implicitly find that it was somehow not necessary for Mr. Bonser to give up Wyoming residence to reside with Ms. Keene at her residence in Utah.

By deciding that it should broadly interpret the definition of "cohabitant" "to cover folks who are entitled to protective orders," and then leaping to the conclusion that Bonser and Keene had resided together, the trial court used circular reasoning to bootstrap itself into issuing a protective order. *See* transcript at p.90, l.23-24. Certainly if the trial court had determined that it was necessary to protect Keene, there were many less intrusive remedies available to Keene and Judge Anderson (e.g. restraining orders or peace bonds). The trial court failed to set forth sufficient reasons for its decision so that it could be reviewed on appeal.

Implied Findings are not Warranted.

Under certain circumstances an appellate court may imply findings when the record shows the trial court necessarily made a finding that it failed to state. But those circumstances are limited. To imply such missing findings of fact, “there must be clear evidence that the court ‘actually considered’ and ‘necessarily’ made its findings” *Miller v. Martineau & Co., C.P.A.*, 1999 UT App. 216 ¶ 46, 983 P.2d 1107, 1116 - 1117 (quoting *Hall v. Hall*, 858 P.2d 1018, 1025 (Utah App.1993)). Missing findings of fact will not be implied “where there is a ‘matrix of possible factual findings.’” *Miller*, 1999 UT App. 216 ¶ 46 (quoting *Adams v. Board of Review*, 821 P.2d 1, 6 (Utah App.1991)).

Here there was just such a matrix of possible findings because Keene’s evidence regarding indicia of residence was disputed. Much of Bonser’s was not. The factual disputes centered around how much time Bonser spent at Keene’s trailer, what items he kept there, and what Bonser’s intent was regarding residency. On this last item, it was undisputed that Bonser never intended to make Manila, Utah or Keene’s trailer his residence. Transcript p. 57.

On that first issue of time spent, Keene testified that Bonser stayed at her trailer on a regular basis - 6 to 7 nights per week, except when Bonser was working. Transcript p. 5. Judge Anderson had remarked, however, that on at least some issue, Keene’s testimony was less than credible. *Id.* p. 92. Moreover, Bonser testified as to his work schedule and his diary. His testimony showed that he was out on jobs for large blocks of

time from late March though mid May of 2003. Under the circumstances it was impossible that he stayed at the trailer for significant periods of time. He testified that over a two month period, his stays at Keene's trailer were basically weekends. *See* Transcript p.p. 53-56. The longest he ever stayed there was four days, when he was sick. *Id.* p. 56. Other witnesses testified that Bonser only stayed there a few times (Transcript p. 42); that he lived with his parents in Mountain View, Wyoming (*id.* p. 50) and that Bonser spent mostly weekends at Keene's trailer. *Id.*

Likewise, there was conflicting testimony regarding what things were kept by Bonser at Keene's trailer. Keene testified that he kept all sorts of items there and that he had his own drawer. *Id.* p. 5. Yet Bonser testified that he did not keep much, and that what he did keep was in a travel bag or on a chair. *Id.* p. 56. On cross examination, Keene had admitted that the clothing that was there was very limited: one or two sweatshirts; a pair of shoes; one pair of socks; a tee shirt and a pair of shorts. *Id.* p. 27. Likewise, she had admitted that Bonser did not receive mail or bills there. *Id.* p. 28.

Thus, just based on these issues there potentially different factual findings. Accordingly, what was in the mind of the trial court cannot be implied. Notably Bonser was very clear, and it was uncontroverted, that he never intended to give up his Wyoming residency. The trial court seemed satisfied that he had not done so, but apparently did not consider it relevant. (Transcript p. 90 -91)

II. The Evidence at Trial was not Sufficient to Support the Findings of Fact the Trial Court Should Have Made.

“[T]o obtain a protective order, [Keene] was required to show that she was a cohabitant.” *Bailey v. Bayles*, 2002 UT 58, ¶24 52 P.3d 1158. Although there are several alternative definitions, all but one were inapplicable: Bonser and Keen were never married, legally or at common law; they are not related by blood, and have no children in common - born or expected. Thus, the only definition of “cohabitant” to apply is “a person who is 16 years or older who . . . resides or has resided in the same residence as the other party.” Utah Code Ann. § 30-6-1 (2)(f) (2003). That is the definition Keene chose, it was her burden to establish, and the one the trial court “found”.

Findings will be overturned if they are against the clear weight of the evidence, or the appellate court reaches “a firm conviction that a mistake has been made.” *ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Mattson*, 943 P.2d 247, 255 (Utah Ct.App.1997). Bonser is required to marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate why it is legally insufficient. *Id.* In this case, however, the findings of fact were scant at best. Thus, here he must focus on findings the trial court *should* have addressed, but did not.

The legislature has statutorily defined the word “cohabitant” as it relates to the Cohabitant Abuse Act.. Utah Code Ann. §30-6-1 (1998). Courts are generally required to apply the plain meaning of statutes as defined by the legislature. Here cohabitant is defined in terms of residence - that is “has resided in the same residence.”

When one focuses on the phrase “residing in the same residence” the plain meaning of the statute becomes clearer, as do the necessary factual inquiries. A resident

is something more than a mere inhabitant. *Mesa Development Co. v Sandy City Corp.*, 948 P.2d 366, 369 (Utah App. 1997). In *Travelers/Aetna Ins. Co. v. Wilson*, 2002 UT App 221, 51 P.3d 1288, this Court adopted the dictionary definition as helpful in determining the meaning of the phrase “residing in,” stating:

Webster's Third International Dictionary defines "reside" and "residing" as "to dwell permanently or continuously," "have a settled abode for a time," and "have one's residence or domicile." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1931 (1986). In addition, Webster's defines "resident" as "dwelling or having an abode for a continued length of time."

Travelers, 2002 UT App 221 ¶ 13, 51 P.3d 1288. The Court went on to note that:

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