2003

Keene v. Bonser : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

At the hearing the Court made specific findings based upon testimony of the Respondent, Ashley J. Bonser, that he had used a firearm in a dangerous and threatening manner. The Court made specific and detailed oral findings from the bench of the facts on the record before both of the parties after the evidentiary hearing at which witnesses were called by both sides and cross-examined (see Exhibit Two attached to Appellant’s

Brief).

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND TESTIMONY AT TRIAL

1. The Petitioner, Andrea Keene filed a verified petition for a Protective Order in this matter on June 4, 2003. (Record Page 6)

2. The Petition for a Protective Order was filled out without the assistance of an attorney on the pre-printed form used by the District Courts in cohabitant abuse matters. (See Petition, at Record Page 6)

3. The matter came for hearing before the Court on September 5, 2003 and both parties were represented by privately retained counsel. (See Minutes for Hearing, Record Page 79)

4. At the hearing, the first witness was the Petitioner-Appellee, Andrea Keene, and she testified that she resided in a trailer home located at Scott's Trailer Haven in Manilla, Daggett County, Utah. (Transcript Page 2)

5. After identifying the Respondent- Appellant, Ashley Bonser, in Court Andrea Keene testified that she met him when she was employed as a waitress/bar-tender at a business establishment in Manilla, Utah in February of 2003. (Transcript Page 3)

6. She indicated that the Respondent sometimes began to stay overnight at her residence in March of 2003 and toward the end of March, 2003 he began staying there 2-3 nights a week. (P.R. Transcript Page 4)

7. The Petitioner testified that in April Mr. Bonser started spending 6-7 days a

week, and in May, 2003 he began moving his personal effects and property into the residence at the trailer park. (Transcript Page 4)

8. She testified that the Respondent first moved clothing into the residence in April of 2003 and toward the end of April, he began moving many items including his tools, fishing gear, bathrobe, dryers, and a DVD unit. (Transcript Page 5)

9. The witness testified that the Respondent also moved personal effects and grooming items, such as a toothbrush, deodorant, shampoo, and other similar items into the trailer home. (Transcript Page 5)

10. Andrea Keene indicated that in May, 2003 that Mr. Bonser was staying with her overnight and that he would stay everyday unless he was out of town with work. (Transcript Page 5)

11. The witness testified that beginning approximately to May 31, Mr. Bonser contributed joint living expenses including grocery shopping and other items. (Transcript Page 6)

12. The Petitioner testified that after the incident, the Daggett County Sheriff had removed pictures, picture frames, and clothing items and she itemized the property which the Daggett County . . . the Respondent which had been removed from the residence. (Transcript Page 7)

13. Andrea Keene then described the incident, which occurred on the basis of her obtaining a Protective Order. She indicating that her daughter, Ariyn Cook (date of birth

12-13-00) became upset and began to cry which resulted in an argument which caused the Respondent to become upset and start to load his property into his pick up truck before breaking his fishing pole in anger. (Transcript Page 9)

14. She testified that Mr. Bonser was inside the trailer home and was gathering his belongings and removing that property out of the house when she tossed back to him a key ring he had handed to her. (Transcript Page 10)

15. Ms. Keene described what happened after that as follows:

A "So then he walked over to me (inaudible) and he turned toward the oven and then turned around and walked up and he grabbed both my wrists and pinned me up against the stove with my head against the wall, over the hot oven, halfway back (inaudible) over the hot oven and half that over the counter right there. And I don't recall what he was saying at all because (inaudible) crying and I told him to please not do this in front of my little girl and it took him a few minutes and he told me that he - he started saying that he (inaudible) and he let me go. He didn't say anything after that."

Q "Okay"

A "And so then he let me go and he started to walk outside and I got my little girl and there was a period of time between that I don't remember what happened and I tried to remember and I don't. I remember he grabbed picture frames and was ripping up pictures, ripping up pictures (inaudible) frame and crinkling them and telling me that he doesn't need those and I needed (inaudible)."

16. The witness then testified that after Mr. Bonser continued to rip up the pictures when she had told him not to rip the pictures, the following took place:

A "And then I remember - the next thing I remember is he went out to his truck and he got in his truck and he was doing something in there and he started it and went backwards and then went forward and crashed it kind of into my neighbor's trailer and he was upset about that and when he got out of the truck, he turned it off and I thought he had hit my truck and I was standing outside and I was asking him if he hit my truck. And I'm not sure (inaudible) at that time. He said no and I saw him hit the side of his truck with his fists and made a big dent in the passenger side. So I turned - and I had my little girl

and I grabbed her and I was trying to shut the door and lock him out. He got his gun, his rifle out of his truck and came into my house with his rifle.”

Q “A few moments ago you gestured that you grabbed your daughter. Were you holding your daughter in your arms? Go ahead.”

A “And I tried to shut the door and he pushed his way through the door and he had his rifle and at that point I was terrified. I didn’t know what he was -“

Q “Tell us what happened next.”

A “I don’t remember what he was saying and then he handed the gun to me. So I put my daughter down and I took the gun and he told me to shoot him with it and I told him, ‘I am not going to shoot you’ and I proceeded to remove the bullets out of the gun, but I was shaking so bad that I couldn’t get the hammer back and I couldn’t get the bullets out and I got one out or two and they fell on the floor and I took the gun back into my bathroom closet and put it in there.”

Q “Okay.”

A “And then I came back through the bedroom and I grabbed my little girl and I walked - he was standing by the front door still and I walked through the kitchen through her room, into her bathroom because her bathroom had a lock on it and it was (inaudible) the back and I did not think he would follow me back there, so that’s where I went and I didn’t think (inaudible).”

Q “What happened then?”

A “I was holding my little girl and he put both his hand around by throat.”

Q “Did he do anything with his hands while they were around your throat?”

A “He just squeezed. I couldn’t breath and I couldn’t talk. I had my daughter in my left hand and I was trying to remove is fingers with my right hand.”

Q “Okay.”

A “And he was saying things to me and I can’t remember what he was saying and I remember I passed out on the ground. That’s the only thing I remember. I don’t know how long I was out and I remember waking up to my little girl slapping me, telling me to wake up.”

Q “Was there any other contact between you and Mr. Bonser at that time?”

A “Yeah, he was standing over me and spit in my face and called me a whore; and I was, it was like I was in kind of a dream state, so I just kind of disregarded it and was trying to get up and get my little girl and he was kind of helping me up and I was in the bathroom and he told me he was sorry and he started crying and I remember I couldn’t stand up. My legs were shaking so they were really wobbly. So I tried to sit on the bed and I slipped down off the bed and I was sitting on the floor holding my little girl and coughing extremely bad and I thought I was going to throw up but I didn’t - I didn’t know. He was trying to hug me from the left side and tell me he was sorry and he was kind of like laying onto me and he was crying and telling me he didn’t know why he was doing what he was doing and I told him I couldn’t breath and I pushed my left arm against his

chest and was kind of punching him off me a little bit because I was coughing really hard, like all the way toward the ground because I thought I was going to vomit and he said something and I didn't say anything and I remember he grabbed my arm and he said, '(inaudible) bitch, I'm going to break your arm' and he proceeded to break my arm, to try and break my arm."

Q "Describe the type of motion he made with your arm."

A "He stood up, he grabbed my wrist and turned it clockwise and I laid on the ground and I was screaming and my little girl was screaming and I just remember laying there and crying and screaming and finally he let me go and then he laid down on the floor again and he started to cry and he was telling me that didn't know why he was doing this and he was sorry and I was just trying to breath and hold my little girl and I was trying to get out of the room and I asked him, 'will you please leave this bedroom' and he let me step over him and walk (inaudible)."

Q "All right. And do you remember about what time this would have been in the morning when he stepped out of the bedroom?"

A "I have no idea." (Transcript Page 16)

17. After the Petitioner had testified, the Respondent called several witnesses including the father of the Respondent who testified that there were times in the Spring of 2003 when he would stop by and his son had stayed over night at the trailer park in Manilla Utah. (Transcript Page 46)

18. The Respondent Ashley Bonser took the stand and testified that he became upset and broke the fishing pole in half. (Transcript Page 61) After that he testified as follows:

"After I did that, I went into the house, I gathered up - I grabbed by bag. I went in her spare bedroom and grabbed I believe there was a fishing box and maybe a back pack that were in her spare bedroom. I got those, I went out to my truck, I came back in and I asked Andrea if I could have the keys to my little sister's car and she told me to fuck off, that there was no was I was getting them. And I went over next to her door, she has this little basket ting where all the keys were. Well, I found one set of the car keys and when I got the keys, I started taking her house key of my little sister's car keys. I handed it to her and she immediately threw it back in my face and I asked her, 'Andrea, please tell me

where the other key is and I will leave.’ And at that time I started to approach her to hand her the key again and that’s when she pushed me in the face and when she pushed me, I stuck my hand out a pushed against her chest and she spun about half way around and she came back after me and hit me in the troat and slammed me I believe in the neck, is where she hit me, and then I turned around and I grabbed a hold of her and pushed her ap against the counter asking her to please stop and as soon as I let go, I go over and I turned around and walked out. I went into the bedroom and I grabbed my 12 gauge long (inaudible) 35 shotgun that was sitting behind her door and I grabbed the shells that were on her dresser and when I was walking out the door, I was loading the gun. I don’t’ know why I was putting bullets in it when I was walking out the door and I told her that if she was that miserable that she could just shoot me.

Then I had (inaudible) the rest of my stuff and I went outside to- ”

Q “Did she respond to that statement?”

A “No, she didn’t really. She did grab the gun and was trying to take the bullets out of it because I had just set it against the couch while I was grabbing some of my other things that were right there like my shoes. I had an extra pair of shoes that were there by the door.

Then, as I left I did gather up all my stuff, I went to leave and I heard crashing and thudding and I didn’t know what was going on. Well, her daughter when I walked through the door, her daughter was sitting on the couch watching (inaudible) and Andrea was in the back bedroom just throwing stuff, freaking out. I don’t know what she was doing and when I walked in, she threw some type of toy at me. I don’t know what it was and I went in to try to get her to calm down and when I approached her, she kicked me in the groin(groin) and when she kick me in the groin(groin), I pushed her up against the wall and I told her, ‘Andrea, please let’s not do this, let me just go, let me get out of here.’ That was what I was trying to do the entire time. All I wanted to do was get my little sister’s car keys and I was gone. And at that time after I pushed her against the wall, her little girl came walking in and as soon as I seen her, I turned and walked right out and I was gone and I called my father just right after that.”(Transcript Page 63)

19. On cross examination he indicated that during the dispute in the residence he

loaded the shotgun, which was not loaded prior to him placing shells in the shot gun.

(Transcript Page 65) He admitted on cross examination that there was no need for him to

load the shotgun in the middle of an argument. (Transcript Page 66)

20. Mr. Bonser further admitted that loading the shotgun could have been interpreted as a threat and he acknowledged that the shotgun was a dangerous weapon. (Transcript Page 66)

21. He testified that at one point in time he put his hands on the Petitioner's chest and "they may have slid up around her neck".(Transcript Page 67) He testified that his hands were around her neck without her consent while angry for maybe five to ten seconds. (Transcript Page 67)

22. The Respondent admitted that in the kitchen of the trailer he grabbed her wrist and backed her up against the counter claiming that she was hitting him at the time. (Transcript Page 68) However, he admitted that there was enough pressure that he possibly left marks on her wrist from the pressure. (Transcript Page 68)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The facts justify the trial Court in issuing a Protective Order for conduct directly within the scope and purpose of protective order proceeding. The Respondent was in fact a cohabitant and subject to the Order and the Court reviewed evidence and correctly applied the law to the facts concerning the domestic threats that occurred in Manilla, Utah. The Protective Order Petition proceeding is a summary proceeding designed to protect persons from future abuse based on proof of actual abuse from a past cohabitant.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE ORDER WHICH IS A SUBJECT OF THE REVIEW BY THIS COURT ON THE BASIS THE GROUNDS FOR REVIEW ARE SO INSUBSTANTIAL AS NOT TO MERIT FURTHER PROCEEDING

A hearing on the Petition was held in the above entitled matter and witnesses were placed under oath and testified. The Respondent, Ashley Bonser testified and his testimony is detailed in the above Statement of Facts in this Brief. The testimony and his admission standing alone as adequate factual basis to issue the Protective Order and for the Court to affirm the District Court's Order granting the Petition of Andrea Keene and issuing the Protective Order.

It is well settled that the Appellate Court in Utah should affirm the judgment appealed from "if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground or theory differs from that stated by the trial court to be the basis of its ruling or action, and this is true even though such ground or theory is not urged or argued on appeal by appellee, was not raised in the lower court, and was not considered or passed on by the lower court." *Dipoma v. McPhie*, 29 P.3d 1225(Utah 2001). In this matter, the Legal theory applied by the Trial Court is straight forward and based on the basic language of the statute.

The Appellate Court is entrusted with ensuring legal accuracy and uniformity and should defer to the Trial Court on factual matters." *Willey v. Willey*, 951 P.2d 226, 230-31 (Utah 1997); *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994); and *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256 (Utah 1993). Since it is not appropriate for Court on Appeal to disregard the Trial Court's findings of fact and to assume the role of weighing evidence and making its own findings of fact, this Court is generally confined an appeal to the facts specially found by the trial court *Bailey v. Bayles*, 2002 UT 58 (Utah 06/25/2002). Here the Court carefully considered the evidence and found facts and made a decision upon them or these facts. There is more than sufficient evidence to support the findings of fact made by the Trial Court and no facts to support the appellants.

Under Utah Code Annotated, 30-6-2(1) a party has two alternative grounds upon to seek a protective order. The statute provides:

Any cohabitant . . . who has been subjected to abuse or domestic violence, or to whom there is a substantial likelihood of immediate danger of abuse or domestic violence, may seek an ex parte protective order or a protective order in accordance with this chapter, whether or not that person has left the residence or the premises in an effort to avoid further abuse.

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